IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC89,710

GEORGE JAMES TREPAL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER
Litigation Director
Florida Bar No. 0899641
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL COUNSEL
101 NE 3d Avenue
Suite 400

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
(954) 713-1284
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Mr. Trepal was indicted by the grand jury in the Tenth Judicial Circuit, Polk County, Florida, on April 5, 1990, for one count of first-degree murder, several counts of attempted first-degree murder, poisoning food or water, and tampering with a consumer product. Jury trial commenced January 7, 1991. At the close of the 4-week trial, the jury found Mr. Trepal guilty of all counts. The penalty phase took place on February 7, 1991, the day after the guilty verdict, and the jury recommended death by a vote of 9-3. On March 6, 1991, the Court sentenced Mr. Trepal to death. This Court affirmed, with two justices dissenting. Trepal v. State, 621 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 892 (1994).

An initial Rule 3.850 motion was filed on June 16, 1995, and an amendment thereto on March 21, 1996 (1PCR 1107-1361).¹ An evidentiary hearing was conducted on some claims in October, 1996, and an order denying relief was entered on November 6, 1996 (Id. at 3337). Following a rehearing motion which was denied (Id. at 3515), a timely notice of appeal was filed.

On April 15, 1997, the Office of the Inspector General issued a report (OIG Report) regarding various serious deficiencies noted in a

¹In the interim, Mr. Trepal filed an interlocutory appeal regarding public records. Trepal v. State, 704 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 1997).

number of cases, including this one, in which the FBI Crime Laboratory and its scientists were involved. On June 20, 1997, Mr. Trepal sought, and this Court granted, a relinquishment of jurisdiction to investigate and file a second Rule 3.850 motion. Mr. Trepal thereupon filed his motion, which was later amended after disclosure of additional records by the federal government (2PCR. 2485).² The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing³ and issued an order denying relief on October 26, 2000 (Id. at 2675). Mr. Trepal timely filed a notice of appeal, which was consolidated with the first 3.850 appeal.

A. 1996 EVIDENTIARY HEARING.⁴

Wofford Stidham. Stidham's criminal experience consisted of one murder trial "a good thirty years" before Mr. Trepal's trial (1PCR. 1962-63; 1967). His son, Jonathan, worked in the same law firm, as did attorney Dabney Connor (Id. at 1963-64). Because the case involved scientific issues, Connor, who had majored in chemistry in college, was

²Mr. Trepal eventually had to initiate Freedom of Information litigation in federal court due to the lethargic disclosure by the government of the requested information. See Trepal v. United States Dept. of Justice, No. 97-796-CIV-21B (M.D. Fla.). The suit was voluntarily dismissed once the records had all been disclosed.

³The hearing was bifurcated, having been stayed during another interlocutory appeal. Trepal v. State, 754 So. 2d 702 (Fla. 2000).

⁴At the hearing on his first 3.850 motion, Mr. Trepal called some 30 witnesses. Due to page limits, not all witness testimony can be summarized in this section, but their testimony will be addressed in those portions of the brief to which the testimony is relevant.

brought onto the team (Id. at 1964). Connor handled the scientific issues, Jonathan did most of the discovery and fact development, and W. Stidham did most of the legal work (Id. at 1968-69). The focus of the defense preparation was the guilt phase (Id. at 1975). The defense was one of reasonable doubt and to attack the State's entirely circumstantial case (Id. at 1976). No decisions about what evidence to put on in the defense case were made until "near the end of the trial" (Id. at 1978).

The victim's husband, Pye Carr, was a suspect, but there was not much "concrete evidence on it" (Id. at 1981). Evidence that Pye had motive to commit murder would have been important for the jury, as would trouble in the marriage (Id. at 1982). Pye had a girlfriend named Laura Ervin, but he did not recall what evidence they had to support any inquiry on this point (Id. at 1985).

At trial, Stidham had not seen a note written by Peggy Carr to Pye, revealing that the marriage was troubled (Id. at 1986-87).⁵ The fact that the note indicates that the marital problems were serious is information he would have expected to receive from the State during discovery and is "consistent with the theory that Pye Carr may have

⁵The note was introduced below as Defense Exhibit 1. At the hearing, Detective Ernest Mincey testified that he found the letter in a garbage can during a search of Pye Carr's home (Id. at 2498). After Mr. Trepal's arrest, Mincey showed the note to prosecutor Aguero (Id. at 2506-08).

been the perpetrator" (Id. at 1988-89; 1991).

Exhibit 2 was a statement taken by Detective Paul Schail of Larry Dubberly (ex-husband of Peggy Carr and father of Duane), in which Dubberly recounts seeing Pye after he was interviewed by lead detective Mincey; according to Dubberly, Pye was trembling and "so nervous he couldn't even talk" (Id. at 1994-95). This statement is consistent with Pye as a suspect (Id. at 1995). He did not recall if the defense had this statement, nor if Larry testified (Id. at 1996). The statement also revealed that Larry told Mincey that when Travis Carr was in the hospital, Larry heard Travis screaming "They are trying to kill me. They tried to kill me before, and they're trying to kill me again" (Id. at 1997). The "they" Travis was referring to were Pye and his sister, Carolyn Dixon (Id.).⁶ Stidham did not recall if this information was presented to the jury (Id. at 1998). The same statement further revealed a scene in the hospital where Larry, Pye, Carolyn, and Margaret Carr (Pye's ex-wife) were informed that the substance was "lathium or lithium or something" used in labs and derived from phosphates; at that point, Margaret turned to Pye and said "You've been working at the Silver City mine all these years, and they've got two chemist labs out there, do you know anything about this -- the kids got into?" (Id. at 1999-2000). Pye then turned to his ex-

⁶This incident was confirmed by Larry Dubberly at the evidentiary hearing (Id. at 3119; 3127).

wife and said "You shut your Goddamn mouth" (Id. at 2000). Stidham did not know if this had been told to the jury, but the statement "doesn't really bowl me over" (Id. at 2001).

Susan Goreck was a detective with the Polk County Sheriff's Office who went undercover and befriended Mr. Trepal (Id. at 2016). Her credibility was "a significant factor," as one of the goals of the defense was to raise the inference or suspicion that the bottle found in Mr. Trepal's vacated garage was planted by law enforcement (Id. at 2018-22). Stidham was shown an internal intelligence report authored by Goreck dated March 15, 1990, stating that on March 5, 1990, she received a call from FBI Agent Brekke indicating that .64 grams of thallium I nitrate had been found in the bottle (Id. at 2022-23). Stidham did not recall ever receiving any of the internal intelligence reports (Id. at 2023).⁷ The report also indicated that on March 6, 1990, Goreck called Donald Havekost at the FBI Crime Lab to confirm that the bottle contained thallium I nitrate in the amount of .64 grams (Id. at 2024). According to the FBI Lab reports, however, the testing and results therefrom did not occur until months after March of 1990, and the fact that Goreck knew what the substance was in the bottle before the FBI testing had occurred is "a significant piece of

⁷The prosecutor stipulated that Goreck's intelligence reports were not provided to the defense during discovery, and Goreck herself confirmed that she did not disclose them (Id. at 2031; 3144-45).

information" (Id. at 2029).

No decision was made about what to present at the penalty phase until after the verdict (Id. at 2032). One of the "options" was to put on some of Mr. Trepal's friends to show that he was a "gentle person" and incapable of these crimes (Id. at 2033). One problem was some prior bad act evidence which had been excluded by the judge, and the concern that the State could "rebut" the character evidence (Id.). Any jury that would convict Mr. Trepal with the evidence that the State had "was certainly not going to listen to very much" in terms of the penalty phase (Id. at 2038).

Another issue in the case involved trace amounts of thallium detected in Pye Carr's apartment (Id. at 2051). Several witnesses at trial were questioned about this issue (Id. at 2052). He did not recall anything about levels of arsenic being detected in Peggy Carr's system (Id.). The defense team did not discuss the case or strategies with Mr. Trepal's wife, Diana Carr (Id. at 2053). He did recall arguing in closing that Diana was "as logical a candidate as George Trepal was" for having committed the crime; this was over Mr. Trepal's objection (Id. at 2054). He did not recall what occurred with respect to the jurors contacting the newspaper office during trial (Id. at 2055-56).

Dabney Connor. A lawyer for 26 years, Connor became involved with the scientific issues because of his educational background in

chemistry (Id. at 2078-79). He had experience with "a few" criminal cases, but had never done a jury trial in a criminal case (Id. at 2080). The theory at trial was "to hold the State's feet to the fire and make them prove their case" (Id.). Although the team discussed putting on evidence, they felt that "the best opportunity we had for creating a reasonable doubt was through trying to shoot holes in the State's case (Id. at 2082). The bottle of thallium discovered in Mr. Trepal's garage as well as the introduction of his prior involvement as a chemist in a drug lab were the most significant parts of the State's case (Id. at 2083). One of the ways they were trying to create reasonable doubt was to infer that others could have committed the crime, specifically Pye Carr (Id. at 2083-84). Any information bearing on Pye as a suspect would have been something the jury should have been aware of (Id. at 2084). The status of the Carr marriage was also an issue, but the court would not permit them to fully explore it (Id. at 2084-85).⁸ The team agreed on the importance of informing the jury of the status of the marriage of Pye and Peggy Carr (Id. at 2085-86). Connor had not previously seen the letter from Peggy to Pye, which definitely would have been something to investigate and question Pye Carr and other family members about, and something he would have wanted the jury to know (Id. at 2088-89).

⁸The issue of the trial court's restriction on the defense cross-examination is addressed in Mr. Trepal's state habeas corpus petition.

The discovery of thallium under a sink in Pye's apartment showed that "someone on that property had access to thallium" (Id. at 2090). The State downplayed the significance of this (Id. at 2091). An expert could have been useful because "the layman would have some problem in understanding what is thallium, where does it come from, and, you know, how does it get here" (Id. at 2091-92; 2134-36; 2164).

Connor recalled seeing medical records indicating that Peggy Carr had elevated levels of arsenic in her system when she was hospitalized, although he did not recall it being "a bell ringer sort of elevation" (Id. at 2093-94). In response to the arsenic levels, the hospital gave Peggy a treatment called BAL (British Anti-Lewisite) (Id. at 2094-95). Connor did not recall whether he brought out at trial the fact that Peggy had elevated levels of arsenic (Id. at 2095), or whether other family members had elevated levels of arsenic; however, hospital records indicated abnormally high arsenic levels for Duane Dubberly and Travis Carr (Id. at 2095-98).⁹

⁹Connor did indicate that one of the State's experts had testified in deposition that he questioned the level of arsenic in Peggy Carr's urine, and thus Connor considered it an "anomaly" (Id. at 2137). However, he acknowledged his conclusion was based on his own subjective interpretation of the one test; he deposed none of the experts who conducted the tests to determine if they had accurately calibrated the machines (Id. at 2166). Had he had an expert who could have testified that the results were not an anomaly but rather significant information, Connor could not say whether or not he would have presented that to the jury (Id. at 2169). He confirmed that no arsenic was ever found in any of Mr. Trepal's property (Id. at 2171).

Medical records also revealed that the level of thallium in Travis Carr's urine increased significantly while he had been hospitalized (Id. at 2098-99).¹⁰ Connor was "not sure" how this matter was handled with the jury, but did recall discussing with the legal team the accuracy of the test results or whether someone was continuing to supply Travis with thallium while he was in the hospital (Id. at 2099-2100). The fact that Travis' level of thallium increased in the hospital is consistent with a reasonable doubt defense (Id. at 2100).

Connor did the penalty phase closing argument, and nothing was presented by the defense (Id. at 2101). Witnesses were available in the hallway to testify "in a very simplistic term, that George was a nice guy" (Id. at 2106-07). Connor has also asked Dr. Ed Willey to review the overall poisoning situation, and although he did not recall his conclusions, he did remember that they were "helpful" (Id. at 2110).¹¹ Although Judge Maloney precluded Willey from testifying at

¹⁰The records showed that on October 31, Travis had 2 milligrams per liter of thallium; on November 7, however, the level had increased to 3.9 milligrams per liter (1PCR. 2098-99).

¹¹Mr. Trepal called Willey at the hearing. He testified that in June 1990, he was asked by trial counsel to review the medical aspects of the case, after which he recommended that they retain an expert in toxicology because of the "level of sophistication and analysis" involved with the issue of thallium (Id. at 3015; 3021). Willey himself circulated a letter among various toxicologists and many had volunteered their services (Id. at 3016). One had previously worked on a case of thallium poisoning, and another had previously testified in Bartow (Id. at 3016). He provided this information to Mr. Trepal's trial attorneys (Id. at 3017). No toxicologist was ever retained by

the guilt phase, his order specifically did not indicate that Willey could not be used at the penalty phase (Id. at 2111). He also recalled having Mr. Trepal's prison records from his North Carolina incarceration which indicated "no blemishes" in his conduct (Id. at 2112-13). Good prison conduct was admissible at the penalty phase, but it was not presented (Id. at 2113). Connor believed that they had a "better chance" of receiving less than death from the jury if they did not put on any witnesses (Id. at 2108). Because the defense was "still a little surprised" at the guilty verdict, they believed because "it was such a close call" that "surely they will not vote for the death penalty" (Id. at 2109).

Connor had many interactions with Mr. Trepal's wife, Diana, who was "frustrated" with "everything" and concerned about being implicated in the crime (Id. at 2104). The fact that a particular witness in a case is also considered a suspect is something for the jury to know in a criminal case (Id. at 2115). Mr. Trepal indicated that he did not want the finger pointed at his wife (Id. at 2146); however, Connor did argue during closing arguments, "against [Mr. Trepal's] instruction," that Diana could have committed the crime (Id. at 2175).

Regarding Exhibit 4 (Goreck's intelligence report), Connor did not believe he saw this at the time of trial (Id. at 2116-17). The

the defense, however.

report "makes me wonder if she knew" that the bottle found in Mr. Trepal's garage contained thallium I nitrate before she had even requested the testing on the bottle (Id. at 2122). This information "certainly" implies that she planted the bottle herself, which was consistent with the defense (Id. at 2123). Had he had the report, he would have presented the information to the jury (Id.).¹²

Jonathan Stidham. Stidham was admitted to the Florida Bar in October, 1987 (Id. at 2218). At the time of Mr. Trepal's trial, he had done no murder cases (Id. at 2221-22). The "initial approach" at trial was to cast light on other suspects like Pye Carr, and then "trying to create reasonable doubt" (Id. at 2225). To show Pye's motive, the defense wanted to pursue at trial the state of the marriage of Peggy and Pye; however, the State repeatedly objected to the evidence (Id. at 2228). He recalled a witness named Rita Tacker, who was a friend of Peggy's who had information about the marital trouble (Id. at 2229); however, he was not permitted to question Tacker at trial about the relationship between Peggy and Pye on hearsay grounds (Id. at 2231-32). Stidham confirmed that he had never seen the note from Peggy to Pye, which should have been disclosed under Brady (Id. at 2235). The note

¹²Even if Goreck had an explanation for the dates, the defense still would have made the argument to the jury that the bottle was planted, and that Goreck's explanation was not believable (Id. at 2152; 2177-78). In fact, "that would have been real strong ammunition" and he would have "done everything I could to get that in front of the jury and to make a strong argument about it" (Id. at 2179).

is something he would have wanted the jury to know about, and is consistent with the defense theme at trial (Id. at 2234-35). It refuted the State's theory that although the marriage had its rocky moments, "they were just two lovebirds at the time that this occurred" (Id. at 2237). In addition, the note refuted the notion that the problems in the marriage were related solely to the children (Id.), and supported the argument to the judge that the hearsay evidence about the marriage was reliable enough to be admitted (Id. at 2238; 2251-56). For example, state of mind of a declarant is an exception to the hearsay rule (Id. at 2239). He also would have used the note during his impeachment of Detective Mincey, who testified that he came up with no evidence suggesting that Pye had a motive and that the marital trouble related only to the children (Id. at 2240-42). The note could also have been used to impeach the many state witnesses who attributed the trouble in the marriage to the children (Id. at 2243-47).

He recalled a witness named Laura Ervin, who, according to police reports, had had a conversation with Pye's sister, Carolyn Dixon, on Sunday, October 30, 1988, at which time Carolyn told Ervin that Peggy had been poisoned with thallium (Id. at 2249; Exhibit 15). Stidham recalled that the "time line" of when the conversation occurred did not "pan out" (Id. at 2249).¹³ With respect to Larry Dubberly's statement

¹³In reality, the time line fit perfectly. Peggy Carr was hospitalized for the second time on October 30, 1988. In her police

that Travis Carr was yelling from his hospital room (with Pye and Carolyn in the room) "they're trying to kill me" and "you tried it once, and it didn't work, you're trying it again," such statements were consistent with the defense theory (Id. at 2261).¹⁴ Stidham also recalled that Detective Paul Schaill, who was the initial investigator, believed that Pye was the main suspect; Schaill, however, was dismissed from the case with "his investigation [being] far from concluded" and replaced by Det. Mincey (Id. at 2262). Had the defense put on a case in chief, Schaill "would have been the main witness, in my mind" (Id.

statement, Ervin remembered seeing Dixon in the afternoon at the Wal-Mart. Laura distinctly recalled that she spoke with Carolyn on Sunday, October 30th. The conversation with Carolyn was unexpected and provocative, as she told Ervin on that date that Peggy had been poisoned with "Thallium" (Defense Exhibit 15). What is significant about this statement is that at the time that Dixon made her comment, Peggy had not yet been diagnosed as having been poisoned; the doctors did not suspect poison until November 1, 1988 (R. 1781-82). Moreover, it was not until November 2, 1988, 3 days after Carolyn's comment about thallium, that the lab determined that Peggy had been exposed to thallium (R. 1784). Ervin confirmed her police statement during the evidentiary hearing (1PCR 2418-19). The State called Dixon at the hearing, who, although confirming having spoken with Ervin at the Wal-Mart, testified that the conversation must have occurred sometime in December because, in her recollection, it was not until December that the doctors discovered that Peggy had been poisoned with thallium (Id. at 3161). Again, however, the lab determined that Peggy had been exposed to thallium on November 2, 1988, not in December.

¹⁴Stidham later explained that he "must have" thought this statement had no value if he did not question anyone about it, "otherwise, I would have" (Id. at 2333). However, this is just a "general recollection" on this point, nothing specific (Id. at 2341).

at 2263).¹⁵

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