IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE JAMES TREPAL,

Appellant,

vs. SC89,710 CASE NO.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 801-0600 FAX (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Trepal's reliance on <u>Buenoano v. Singletary</u>, 963 F.2d 1433 (11th Cir. 1992), and <u>U.S. v. Hearst</u>, 638 F.2d 1190 (9th Cir. 1980), to suggest that the actions of law enforcement may have been affected by the motivation of a possible movie deal, is clearly misplaced. In those cases, the trial defense attorneys were attacked as having been influenced by improper motives during the trial. Given the obvious differences in the roles of trial counsel and law enforcement in the criminal justice system, these cases are not relevant to the issue presented below.

This claim was alleged below as a violation of <u>Brady v.</u> <u>Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), based on the state's alleged failure to disclose "the true extent of the investigation" (PC-

R. V8/1261-1307). Trepal claims that knowledge that the sheriff's office was discussing the possibility of a movie deal could have been used to impeach law enforcement witnesses and to support the defense that the sheriff's office was in a "rush to judgment" and may have planted the incriminating brown bottle in Mr. Trepal's garage. Clearly, the allegation that law enforcement were aware of a possible movie deal is neither exculpatory or material to Trepal's case where, as here, there are facts suggesting that any of the evidence against Trepal was compromised. The improper influence, as alleged, does not cast any doubt on Trepal's convictions. Thus, no <u>Brady</u> violation can be discerned on these facts.

Trepal has failed to identify any impropriety in the investigation conducted by the Polk County Sheriff's Office. On these facts, he is not entitled to any relief in this issue.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING TREPAL'S CLAIM OF JUROR MISCONDUCT.

Trepal also asserts that the court below should have granted relief on his claim of juror misconduct. The court permitted Trepal to explore any allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel at the evidentiary hearing, but properly denied the underlying substantive claim as procedurally barred. The denial of this claim involved the application of legal principles to the factual findings made below; this Court must review the factual findings for competent, substantial evidence, paying great deference to the trial court's findings, and review of the legal conclusions is de novo. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998).

With regard to this claim, the lower court found:

(5) Claim #8 deals with the alleged jury A portion of the claim was misconduct. without a hearing. denied The court permitted a hearing on the issue of possible ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the alleged misconduct because the record is not clear as to what actually occurred. The motion for postconviction relief makes several leaps in logic, unsupported by any evidence, which concern the court.

At the evidentiary hearing, Wofford and Jonathan Stidham, and circuit court judge Dennis Maloney all testified that they had no recollection of the facts surrounding the incident. It is impossible for the court to determine if trial counsel was ineffective if the lawyers and trial judge do not even remember the event occurring. The defendant has failed to satisfy his burden of proof as to this issue. The defendant could have subpoenaed the newspaper editor to testify. More importantly, counsel could have obtained a copy of the photograph referred to on the record and used the photograph to attempt to refresh the memories of the trial attorneys and Judge Maloney.

(PCR. V20/3373). This ruling was correct. Where the record is incomplete or unclear about counsel's actions, counsel must be afforded the presumption that he performed competently. <u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u>, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986); <u>Chandler v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 218 F.3d 1305, 1361 n.15 (11th Cir. 2000).

The trial record reflects that, at one point during the trial, the judge advised the jury that he had received a call from the news editor, and the editor was happy to supply copies of the photo that appeared in the paper "recently" (DA-R. V12/3201). The court asked the jury to refrain from visiting the newspaper office and questioned jurors to insure that they had not read news articles (DA-R. V12/3201).

Trepal asserts that these facts warrant relief. To the extent that his claim is premised entirely on the trial transcript, he is procedurally barred as this issue could have been raised on direct appeal. No error is apparent, however, since the court explored the facts and failed to uncover any indication of juror misconduct. Rather, the record reflects that the issue was explored to everyone's satisfaction. The

fact that no jurors indicated that they had read the paper refutes Trepal's claim that the jury was improperly subjected to outside influences. Trepal's assertion that, "a number of sitting jurors ... on an unidentified number of occasions" went to the newspaper office is unfounded speculation which is not supported by the record.

To the extent that Trepal alleges that he was denied a full and fair hearing on this issue by the court's refusal to permit him to subpoen the trial jurors, his claim is without merit. The court below properly found the substantive juror misconduct claim to be procedurally barred. The judge acknowledged that, should Trepal prevail in establishing that counsel's performance with regard to this incident was deficient, it might be necessary for jurors to testify in order to discern the potential prejudice. However, there was no basis for a finding of deficient performance, and therefore any additional information which the jurors could have provided on this issue would not be relevant.

On these facts, no error has been demonstrated, and Trepal is not entitled to any relief.

ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING TREPAL'S CLAIM ALLEGING ATTORNEY CONFLICT OF INTEREST.

Trepal next asserts that his trial counsel was unconstitutionally acting under a conflict of interest. According to Trepal, the fact that his wife was paying his attorney's fees, coupled with the fact that his wife was also a suspect, created an impermissible conflict of interest. The court below denied this claim following the evidentiary hearing. The denial of this claim involved the application of legal principles to the factual findings made below; this Court must review the factual findings for competent, substantial evidence, paying great deference to the trial court's findings, and review of the legal conclusions is de novo. Stephens v. State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998).

With regard to this claim, the court below held:

(3) Claim #6 alleged trial counsel had an actual conflict of interest that rendered them ineffective. In support of the claim, the defendant states that "[d]uring the months leading up to the commencement of Mr. Trepal's trial in February of 1991, Diana Carr (the wife of the defendant and a suspect in the homicide) met and conferenced with the various attorneys at Boswell, Wilson Stidham, Conner & on numerous occasions and discussed with them how the case was proceeding and the strategies that should be carried out in her husband's defense." (See, rule 3.850 motion, p. 141).

The portions of the trial transcript listed by the defendant indicate that counsel attempted to elicit potentially incriminating evidence from Diana Carr. The court sustained objections to the questions, but allowed counsel to proffer the questions and answers. The defendant has failed to demonstrate how any conflict of interest effected the lawyers' ability to effectively represent Mr. Trepal.

The defendant claimed that Diana Carr met with her husband's lawyers and discussed how to try the case. Evidence presented at the hearing clearly refuted this claim. Wofford and Jonathan Stidham both testified that Diana Carr did not meet with them to discuss the case. Also, Jonathan Stidham testified that after the firm sent Diana Carr a second bill for legal services, she extremely upset became and hostile. Jonathan stated that he never had any further contact with Diana Carr after that incident.

The defendant also alleges that it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to inform the jury that Diana Carr was testifying under immunity. Trial counsel testified that they saw no need to elicit this information from Diana Carr. Aqain, counsel was bound by their client's desire not to implicate Diana Carr in any way. Further, as noted previously, her testimony was not damaging to the defense and the tactical decision was made not to attempt to impeach her. Part of the tactical decision was based upon counsel's opinion that if the jury believed Diana Carr was involved in the poisonings, the jury would also believe that she could not have acted alone, and that the defendant would have had to assist her.

(PCR. V20/3371-72).

The court below properly analyzed this claim, and the conclusion that no actual conflict of interest was demonstrated is supported by the record. Absent an actual conflict, no relief is warranted. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980). In <u>Smith v. Massey</u>, 235 F.3d 1259 (10th Cir. 2000), a similar claim was considered and rejected. The defendant in that case was charged with murder based on her actions in killing her son's former girlfriend. The son was also implicated and was represented by the same counsel. In postconviction proceedings, a conflict of interest argument much like that presented in this The court concluded that the attorney's case was raised. performance was not altered by the potential conflict to the extent that the outcome of the proceedings could have been affected. The court noted that counsel's performance with regard to implicating the defendant's son was dictated by the defendant herself, who forbade her attorneys from pursuing this theory.

Similarly, in the instant case, testimony at the evidentiary hearing established that Trepal advised his attorneys not to implicate his wife in any manner (PC-R. V13/2054-55). Thus, to the extent Trepal now complains that his attorneys did not thoroughly impeach Diana Carr or present a defense that she committed these crimes, that was strategy dictated by Trepal rather than by an actual conflict of interest.

No basis for relief has been offered on these facts. The court below properly denied the attorney conflict of interest claim, and its ruling on this issue must be affirmed.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING TREPAL'S CLAIM THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN PENALTY PHASE.

Trepal also challenges the validity of his death sentence, asserting that the court below erred in denying his claim of penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel. Trepal asserts that his defense attorneys were deficient for failing to present evidence to humanize their client and for failing to argue the existence of lingering doubt as to guilt. Once again, the trial court's ruling was proper, and presents no basis for relief on this issue.

This claim was denied following an evidentiary hearing. The rejection of this claim involved the application of legal principles to the factual findings made below; this Court must review the factual findings for competent, substantial evidence, paying great deference to the trial court's findings, and review of the legal conclusions is de novo. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999); <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998).

The testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing clearly established that Trepal's defense attorneys made a reasoned, strategic decision against presenting the "humanizing" evidence which Trepal now insists should have been presented. The court's order denying this claim summarizes the testimony and

(2) Claim #5 concerned the lack of mitigation evidence presented at the sentencing phase of the trial. This claim alleged ineffective assistance of counsel and the records did not refute the claim. See, Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So. 2d 635 (Fla. Trial counsel claimed that the 1994). failure to produce mitigation evidence was strategic (R. 4369-70 and 4397-98), but the court could not reach this conclusion without conducting an evidentiary hearing. After hearing the testimony at the hearing, the court finds that the decision not to present mitigation evidence was tactical and reasonable under the circumstances. There is no reasonable probability that the jury's recommendation would have been different had the proposed evidence been presented.

The specific examples of evidence that the defendant alleged should have been introduced in the penalty phase are listed below.

(a) CHARACTER EVIDENCE FROM MENSA FRIENDS

the evidentiary hearing, At the defendant called several MENSA members to testify on behalf of Mr. Trepal. All the witnesses basically testified that the defendant was a nice, caring, intelligent, thoughtful, generous and non-violent individual. In cross-examination, the state attorney asked all of the witnesses if they knew that the defendant had been convicted of a felony in the 1970's, that he spent time in federal prison, that he and his wife engaged in sado-masochistic practices, that he had physically battered his wife, that his wife had to flee to a neighbor's house because Mr. Trepal was being violent, and that he had in his house a pornographic video depicting an actual murder. Most of these "bad acts" were referred to in a pretrial motion in limine filed by the (R. 4905) Many of the witnesses defendant. did not know of these facts, and although all stated that their opinion of Mr. Trepal

would not change, the impact on the jury would have been potentially devastating to the defense.

The trial attorneys testified that they were aware of the state's 'bad character' evidence and that it effected their decision not to call any of the defendant's MENSA friends. The decision was obviously tactical, and after hearing the testimony and the state's cross-examination, the court finds that the decision was reasonable.

(b) ABILITY TO FORM CLOSE, LOVING RELATIONSHIPS

This mitigator would appear to rely upon much of the evidence from the defendant's family and MENSA friends. Once again, the potential that negative evidence would reach the jury effected counsel's decision not to introduce the evidence. The strategy was reasonable and did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

(c) THE DEFENDANT WAS A MODEL PRISONER

No evidence was presented on this ground. Therefore, the court does not know if the defendant was a model prisoner. In any event, the court finds that the decision was not to present this type of mitigation evidence, if it existed, was harmless.

(d) THE DEFENDANT HAS STRONG RELIGIOUS BELIEFS

No evidence was presented on this ground. Therefore, the court does not know if the defendant has strong religious beliefs. In any event, the court finds that the decision not to present this type of mitigation evidence, if it existed, was harmless. Further, it is conceivable that the state could have presented negative character evidence to rebut the potential mitigation evidence, so the decision appears to be tactical.

(e) FAMILY HISTORY WAS NOT PRESENTED TO JURY

Several of the defendant's family testified at the evidentiary hearing. The court finds that the decision not to present the family history and character evidence from family members was harmless. Further, it is conceivable that the state could have presented negative character evidence in rebuttal, so the decision appears to be tactical.

A portion of this claim related to the defendant being an intellectually "gifted" child. An expert in gifted children testified at the evidentiary hearing. The state asked the expert numerous questions about some of the defendant's letters and journal entries, which detailed criminal experiences and other bad acts, that the expert had relied upon formulating her opinion. The material was extremely damaging to the defendant. To open the door to such evidence during the penalty phase would have been a tremendous tactical mistake. Further, the court doubts that a jury who has convicted a man of one count of first degree premeditated murder and six counts of attempted first degree murder would find that the defendant's "giftedness" mitigated the crime.

Another part of the claim related to the defendant's speech impediment. An expert speech pathologist testified to the effects of stuttering on a child. The court finds that the decision not to present this type of mitigation evidence was harmless.

(PCR. V20/3366-69). Thus, the court below concluded that the decision not to present humanizing testimony in mitigation was reasonable, noting that the negative evidence that could have been generated as a result of producing such testimony could have been "devastating."

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